PACIFIC PALISADES BOWL MOBILE ESTATES, LLC,

Plaintiff, Respondent, and Cross-Appellant,

v.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES,

Defendant, Appellant, and Cross-Respondent.

S_____

Second Appellate District Case no. B216515

Los Angeles County Superior Court case no. BS112956

Honorable James C. Chalfant, Judge of the Supe SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 1 3 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

ELLIOT L. BIEN (SB# 90744) AMY E. MARGOLIN (SB # 168192) BIEN & SUMMERS 23 Palomino Road Novato, California 94947 Tel. (415) 898-2900

PETITION FOR REVIEW

CRAIG M. COLLINS (SB # 151582) BLUM COLLINS LLP 707 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 4880 Los Angeles, CA 90017

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1.

Did the Legislature intend to subject a much-litigated type of mobilehome park subdivision to the exclusive control of Government Code § 66427.5, as held in *Sequoia Park Associates v. County of Sonoma* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4th 1270 (*review denied*) and other published opinions; or, as held below, did the Legislature intend to permit deviations from § 66427.5 whenever a local agency can cite some other state statute as *sub silentio* authority for the deviation?

2.

Did the Court of Appeal correctly hold that the California Coastal Act of 1976 (Pub. Resources Code § 30000 *et seq.*) and the Mello Act (Gov.Code § 65590 *et seq.*) even *apply* to the type of subdivision covered by § 66427.5 — which changes nothing but the legal structure of an existing park to permit resident ownership of existing spaces when by definition this does not "change . . . the density or intensity of use of land" (Coastal Act § 30106) and does not displace low-income residents within the meaning of the Mello Act?

INTRODUCTION

Government Code § 66427.5 (hereafter, "§ 66427.5") applies to the technical subdivision or "conversion" of an existing and occupied mobilehome park for one purpose alone: to permit at least some residents to purchase their space rather than continue renting it. (*See generally, Sequoia Park Associates, supra,* 176 Cal.App.4th 1270.) As stated in Govt. Code § 50780, subd. (a)(1): "mobilehome parks provide a significant source of homeownership for California residents...." Indeed, the Legislature has long supported such homeownership

-2-

opportunities with funding. (*See, El Dorado Palm Springs, Ltd., v. City* of *Palm Springs* (2002) 96 Cal.App.4th 1153, 1159, citing "the . . . Mobilehome Park Purchase Fund [which] provide[s] supplemental funding to encourage and assist mobilehome park residents to purchase the mobilehome parks and convert them to resident ownership. (Health & Saf.Code, § 50780, subd. (a)).")

In 1995, however, the Legislature took forceful action to protect the foregoing policy from local interference. As the sponsor of the relevant bill complained, "[s]ome local governments have imposed a virtual roadblock to park conversion" (Appellant's Appendix Vol. 4 ["4 AA"] at 750 (quoting Senator William A. Craven, sponsor of SB 310) Thus, the Legislature adopted a preemptive set of statewide criteria for the approval of this type of subdivision. (*Sequoia Park Associates, supra,* 176 Cal.App.4th at 1282-1287)

The contours of the preemption have continued to engender debate, litigation, and legislative activity. Section 66427.5 was amended again in 2002, and the opinion below is the fourth published decision on this subject since 2002. (*El Dorado Palm Springs, Ltd., supra; Sequoia Park, supra*; and *Colony Cove Properties, LLC v. City of Carson* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1487 [114 Cal.Rptr.3d 822]) The controversy has also spawned several recent unpublished decisions.

-3-

Until now, however, at least one fundamental point appeared settled. While some differences remain as to the intent and ramifications of § 66427.5 itself, a consensus had emerged that § 66427.5 is the *only* state statute governing this specialized and sensitive form of subdivision. So all the players — local agencies, park residents, and park owners — at least knew the basic rules and could govern themselves accordingly.

Not any more. The opinion below blesses criteria for this type of subdivision that have no colorable grounding in any language of § 66427.5. The opinion holds that local agencies like the appellant, City of Los Angeles, have free rein to block § 66427.5 subdivisions by citing *other* state statutes. In this case it was the Coastal Act and Mello Act. But the reasoning below — in direct conflict with the *Sequoia Park* line of cases — extends a wide invitation to similar reasoning and results. This Court should settle the conflict and restore a modicum of certainty to this important issue of continuing statewide concern.

In the process, the Court should also settle an important point about the Coastal Act and Mello Act, statutes governing a huge area of the State. While the Legislature carefully limited the reach of those statutes to avoid conflicts with other ones, the opinion below brushes those limitations aside and upsets the intended balance. In significant

-4-

part, moreover, it follows uncritically a poorly reasoned holding never followed before (*California Coastal Commission v. Quanta Inv. Corp.* (1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 579). Accordingly, this Court should disapprove *Quanta's* holding as well, or at least confine it to its facts, and restore the balance deliberately established by the Legislature.

SUMMARY OF THE CASE

The basic facts and proceedings material to this petition can be summarized briefly. The Palisades Bowl Mobilehome Park is located at 16321 Pacific Coast Highway, across the street from Will Rogers State Beach. (9 AA at 1952) On April 23, 2007, Palisades Bowl commenced discussions with city officials to determine what information should be included in its proposed application to convert its 170+ unit mobilehome park to resident ownership. (9 AA 1952) But when Palisades Bowl first attempted to submit its application, on June 21, 2007, city officials claimed they were not "ready" for it because the city had no checklist of required items. (*Id.*) As a result, Palisades Bowl spent the next five months trying to work with the City to develop such a checklist. (*Id.*)

Finally, Palisades Bowl attempted in vain to file its application on November 13, 2007, in the hope of at least obtaining an authoritative decision as to completeness or incompleteness of its application. (9 AA

-5-

1952) But all it received was an e-mail on November 20, 2007, attempting to explain why the application had been rejected. (9 AA 1953) The e-mail also listed five items "you need to file [with] your application. . ." (2 AA 235, 9 AA 1953) They included: (1) apply for a general plan amendment and zoning change, (2) apply for Mello Act clearance, (3) apply for a coastal development permit, (4) submit a parcel map application, and (5) submit a new tenant impact report. (9 AA 1957) However, the city subsequently narrowed its position to only two of those requirements: the Mello Act clearance and the coastal development permit. (9 AA 1957)

After the city refused to accept the application of November 13, 2007 (AA 2:236), Palisades Bowl filed its original petition in the superior court for a writ of mandate on January 17, 2008. (1 AA 8 *et seq*.) Palisades Bowl brought causes of action for traditional mandamus and declaratory and injunctive relief.

Following amendments, briefing, and argument, Palisades Bowl prevailed on its contention that § 66427.5 preempted the city's attempt to impose criteria for a subdivision application that were not enumerated in that statute. Los Angeles Superior Court Judge James C. Chalfant issued an extraordinarily detailed analysis of the various statutes involved. (9 AA 1951-1960) Judgment followed on April 13, 2009 (9

-6-

AA 1998-2002) and a peremptory writ on May 7, 2009. (*Id.* at 2010-2013)

The city timely appealed as to the preemption issues, and Palisades Bowl pursued a cross-appeal from the denial of its claims under the Permit Streamlining Act (Govt. Code § 65920 *et seq.*) However, it does not seek review of Part A of the opinion below on the latter subject.

LEGAL ANALYSIS

Ι.

REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO RESOLVE A CONFLICT IN PUBLISHED AUTHORITY WHETHER THE LEGISLATURE INTENDED TO ADOPT ONLY ONE SET OF CRITERIA FOR A SENSITIVE TYPE OF MOBILEHOME PARK SUBDIVISION

A.

THE TEXT OF § 66427.5

There is no need to repeat *Sequoia Park*'s thorough explanation why § 66427.5, both before and after its amendment in 2002, was intended as the sole authority over conversion applications through its uniform statewide criteria. While that opinion focuses on state versus local authority, its whole premise is that § 66427.5 was intended as the *exclusive* statewide authority over this type of subdivision.

Nevertheless, the opinion below finds a legislative intent to permit additional criteria if credibly founded on other state statutes. That holding cannot survive scrutiny, and the first reason is textual. There is a tried and true way to make statutes nonexclusive. The Legislature says so. And here it did not.

One familiar way to make a statute nonexclusive is to insert the proviso: "except as otherwise provided by statute." An eminent domain statute, for example, provides: "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by statute, all improvements pertaining to the realty shall be taken into account in determining compensation." (Code Civ. Proc. § 1263.210, subd. (a)) In that case, the Legislature plainly contemplated a role for other statutes. But no such language appears in § 66427.5.

Nor are there words to that effect in the key provision cited by *Sequoia Park* and its predecessor, *El Dorado Palm Springs, Ltd.*, as evidence of a strong preemptive intent. The provision reads:

[t]he scope of the hearing shall be limited to the issue of compliance with this section. (Subd. (e))

"This section" means § 66427.5. Period. Had the Legislature contemplated a role for any other statutes in the application process, whether directly or through local implementation, this would have been a logical place to say so. The Legislature could have modified the passage to conclude: "compliance with this section *or any other applicable statute.*" Or, perhaps: "*any other applicable statute or its local implementation.*" But no such language appears.

It is also telling, finally, that Govt. Code § 66427.4, immediately preceding § 66427.5, expressly allows supplemental criteria for a different kind of park conversion, one designed to close the park and convert the land "to another use." (§ 66427.4, subd. (a)) On that subject, the Legislature provided: "[t]his section establishes a minimum standard for local regulation of conversions of mobilehome parks into other uses and shall not prevent a local agency from enacting more stringent measures."

The absence of such a proviso in § 66427.5, or any similar language, is compelling evidence of an intent to make its enumerated criteria exclusive of *any* local criteria — whether or not other state statutes could be cited in their defense. Nor should the courts effectively insert a proposition into a statute so plainly at odds with its text. As this Court stated in *Regents of the Univ. of California v.*

-9-

Superior Court (1999) 20 Cal.4th 509, 531: "[w]hat [the Legislature] did not speak we should not claim to hear."

B.

A "STATE STATUTE" EXCEPTION WOULD GUT THE INTENDED PREEMPTION

The same conclusion follows from the consequences of the holding below. The broad sweep of the proposed "state statute" exception would decimate the preemptive force of § 66427.5. *Innumerable* local ordinances and policies rest on state law to one extent or another.

In *Sequoia Park*, for example, Sonoma County had deviated from § 66427.5 by requiring applicants to document compliance with "the goals and policies of the General Plan Housing Element. . . ." (Quoted at 176 Cal.App.4th 1288) But such housing elements are directly compelled by one state statute (Govt. Code § 65302, subd. (c)) and heavily influenced by others. (Govt. Code §§ 65580 *et seq*.) Accordingly, the "state statute" rationale advanced in the present case would have produced a contrary result in *Sequoia Park*.

But the "state statute" exception would sweep much more broadly. Local governments bent on evasion could cite the foregoing

-10-

land-use statutes alone to justify innumerable deviations. Those statutes alone authorize local action on a myriad of issues such as highways, terminals, military installations, forests, soils, rivers, harbors, fisheries, pollution, erosion, open space, noise, earthquakes, floods, and tsunamis.

Beyond the land-use statutes, however, lies a vast trove of state law that local governments hostile to § 66427.5 could invoke. For example, why not require applicants to track down every dog within 25 miles of the mobilehome park and file a report on their safety? Under the "state statute" rationale, a city could easily point to Civil Code § 3342.5, which admonishes that "[n]othing in this section shall be construed to prevent legislation in the field of dog control by any city, county, or city and county." (Subd. e))

Sequoia Park properly rejected the "housing element" rationale for evading § 66427.5 even though it rests squarely on state law. This Court should now reject the entire "state statute" rationale. It would invite interference with conversion applications any time a local agency could cite a statute relevant in any way to a mobilehome park or its proposed conversion to resident ownership. If that were sufficient to avoid the preemptive force of § 66427.5, it would effectively repeal the statute. And that is the Legislature's prerogative, not the courts'.

REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO SETTLE THE INTENDED SCOPE OF THE COASTAL ACT AND MELLO ACT

11.

Even assuming arguendo that *some* state statutes might justify a deviation from § 66427.5, neither the Coastal Act nor the Mello Act would do so. Their own language and purpose bar their use to justify local stonewalling of a conversion application under § 66427.5. Moreover, their construction below would upset a delicate balance deliberately established by the Legislature between those statutes and others arguably covering similar issues.

A.

THE COASTAL ACT

Palisades Bowl will first demonstrate that the Coastal Act does not even apply to conversions governed by § 66427.5. But to whatever extent it might otherwise apply to mobilehome parks, several of its provisions preserve the limitations imposed on local government authority by § 66427.5.

The Act Does Not Apply to These Conversions

1.

The attempt to invoke the Coastal Act in this case rests on a very slim reed. The Act's definition of the "development" it covers includes the phrase "any other division of land." (Pub. Res. Code § 30106) But that phrase appears in a clause whose only subject is a "change in the density or intensity of use of land. . . ." And the conversions governed by § 66427.5, by definition and settled case law, do not effect such a change.

Here is the pertinent definition of "development," without changing any word or punctuation, but separating out and numbering independent clauses and emphasizing the one at issue here:

"Development" means, on land, in or under water,

[1] the placement or erection of any solid material or structure;

[2] discharge or disposal of any dredged material or of any gaseous, liquid, solid, or thermal waste;

[3] grading, removing, dredging, mining, or extraction of any materials;

[4] change in the density or intensity of use of land, including, but not limited to, subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act (commencing with Section 66410 of the Government Code), and any other division of land, including lot splits, except where the land division is brought about in

-13-

connection with the purchase of such land by a public agency for public recreational use;

[5] change in the intensity of use of water, or of access thereto; construction, reconstruction, demolition, or alteration of the size of any structure,[¹] including any facility of any private, public, or municipal utility; and

[6] the removal or harvesting of major vegetation other than for agricultural purposes, kelp harvesting, and timber operations which are in accordance with a timber harvesting plan submitted pursuant to the provisions of the Z'berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act of 1973 (commencing with Section 4511).

The plain meaning of Clause 4 is that the Act applies to a "change in the density or intensity of use" of coastal land. And that reflects the dominant purpose of the Act. But then, wisely or unwisely, Clause 4 cites examples of *methods* by which such a change can be made: "including, but not limited to, subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act . . . and any other division of land, including lot splits. . . ."

Both grammatically and logically, the illustrative methods cited in Clause 4 do not alter the defining subject identified at the beginning of the clause: changes in density or intensity of use. And when a statement has a defining subject like that, especially one so plainly stated as here, it impresses a meaning and limits on any examples that follow.

¹ A subsequent definition of "structure" has no bearing here.

Otherwise, such examples could too easily be taken out of context, ignoring and distorting the plain meaning of the statement as a whole. Indeed, that very flaw was identified and rejected in *American Civil Rights Found. v. Berkeley Unified School Dist.* (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 207 (*review denied*). The appellant was relying on one phrase in a constitutional provision. The Court of Appeal responded: "The argument distorts the language of the constitutional provision *by omitting the subject of the sentence*" (*Id.* at 218; italics added)

The same flaw undermines the principal authority the opinion cites to the contrary on Clause 4: *California Coastal Commission v. Quanta Inv. Corp., supra,* 113 Cal. App.3d 579, 605-609. Without addressing the defining subject of Clause 4, the opinion by Justice Auerbach held that the phrase "division of land" was sufficient to apply the Coastal Act to a conversion of apartments into a stock cooperative. *Quanta* said nothing about the context of that phrase in a clause whose only subject was a change in density or intensity of use. Instead, *Quanta* focused exclusively on the examples of methods, reasoning that a "division of land" must be construed at least as broadly as a "subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act. . . ."

True enough, subordinate phrases ordinarily have the same import when used for similar purposes in the same statement. But the

-15-

nature of that common import depends on the defining subject of the statement. With respect, *Quanta* erred by taking subordinate phrases completely out of context, and thereby giving the Coastal Act an expansive reach that cannot be reconciled with the grammar, logic, and purpose of Clause 4.

The opinion below marks the first time *Quanta* has ever been followed on this point, and part of its rationale is now moot.² Accordingly, the present case presents an apt opportunity to disapprove this holding or, at a minimum, limit it to stock cooperatives. In the present case, for example, it is well settled that mobilehome park conversions under § 66427.5 entail *no* change in use of the land — let alone a change in "density or intensity" as contemplated by the Coastal Act. *El Dorado* squarely held that "a change in form of ownership [under § 66427.5] is not a change in use." (96 Cal.App.4th 1153) Similarly, *Sequoia Park* held that, notwithstanding a conversion under § 66427.5, "the mobilehome park will continue to operate as such,

² *Quanta* reasoned that, if a stock cooperative conversion affects affordable housing, it "may have an impact of concern in this area of [Coastal] Commission interest" (113 Cal.App.3d at 588and 609) But the statutory language twice cited to that effect, in Pub. Res. Code § 30213, was deleted the next year. (SB 626; Stats.1981, c. 1007, p. 3900, § 2) And the same bill added a provision that "[n]o local coastal program shall be required to include housing policies and programs." (*Id.*, § 3, codified as P.R.C. § 30500.1)

merely transitioning from a rental to an ownership basis." (176 Cal.App. 4th 1296)

On this record, then, this Court should hold that the Coastal Act was never intended to apply to conversions under § 66427.5 because they entail no change in the density or intensity of use of coastal land.

2.

Even if the Coastal Act Applied in Other Ways, It Expressly Preserves the Force of a Statute Like § 66427.5

Unlike § 66427.5, which leaves no room for parallel or supplemental rules on its subject matter, the Coastal Act repeatedly acknowledges such rules and expressly preserves their force. And it does so on the very subject of local authority. As a result, to whatever extent the Legislature may have intended the Coastal Act to apply to mobilehome parks, the Act expressly preserves the limitations on local authority found in a statute like § 66427.5.

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