Supreme Court No. S187243 2d Civil No. B216515 LASC Case No. BS112956 Copy

SUPREME COURT

NOV 1 0 2010

8.25(b

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PACIFIC PALISADES BOWL MOBILE ESTATES, LLC Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES Defendant and Appellant.

#### **ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

CARMEN A. TRUTANICH, City Attorney (86629x)
KENNETH FONG, Deputy City Attorney (140609)
AMY BROTHERS, Deputy City Attorney (206283)
700 City Hall East
200 North Main Street
Los Angeles, California 90012
Telephone (213) 978-8069
Facsimile (213) 978-8214

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant
CITY OF LOS ANGELES

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

encourage conversions of mobilehome parks to resident ownership while protecting nonpurchasing residents....But the policy considerations behind the Coastal Act-as well as the Mello Act, inasmuch as its genesis was the Coastal Act [citations]-are far more extensive." *Id.* at 1485.

The court found that section 66427.5 did not offer as much protection of affordable housing as the Mello Act did. "[T]he Mello Act preserves the availability of housing units in the coastal zone dedicated to persons and families of low or moderate income; section 66427.5 would diminish the availability of such dedicated housing units. In short, the protections for low and moderate income persons and families provided by section 66427.5 does not provide the kind of protection so clearly mandated by the Mello Act." *Id.* at 1483.

The court also noted that the Coastal Act 'is an attempt to deal with coastal land use on a statewide basis.' (*Yost v. Thomas* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 561, 571...; see also *Charles A. Pratt Construction Co., Inc. v. California Coastal Com.* (2008) 162 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1068, 1075...["a fundamental purpose of the Coastal Act is to ensure that state policies prevail over the concerns of local government"]. *Id.* at 1479.

The court concluded "[I]n light of the 'paramount concern' for protecting coastal resources by regulating development as expressed in the Coastal Act (and by implication, the Mello Act), we conclude that section 66427.5 does not preclude the City from imposing conditions and requirements mandated by the Mello Act and Coastal Act on a subdivider seeking to convert to resident ownership a mobilehome park located in the coastal zone." *Id.* at 1485.

On October 13, 2010, Palisades Bowl filed this Petition in the Supreme Court. Although Palisades Bowl had the opportunity to file a petition for rehearing under Rule of Court 8.268, it did not.

Contrary to the requirements for Rule of Court 8.504(b)(3), the Petition does not state whether a petition for rehearing was filed.

# III. THERE ARE NO GROUNDS UNDER 8.500 FOR GRANTING THE PETITION FOR REVIEW

In an attempt to manufacture a "conflict" for purposes of Rule of Court 8.500, Palisades Bowl now recasts the holding in *Sequoia Park*, *supra*. The *Sequoia Park* court did not hold that a mobilehome park subdivision was subject to the exclusive control of Government Code ¶ 66427.5 to the exclusion of other State mandates, as Palisades Bowl contends. Rather, the *Sequoia Park* court held that Government

Code ¶ 66427.5 pre-empted Sonoma County's local ordinance, which provisions "deviat[ed] from state-mandated criteria for approving a mobilehome park conversion application." *Sequoia Park v. Sonoma County* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1270, 1299.

The *Palisades Bowl* panel explicitly noted that the *Sequoia Park* holding did not pertain to a situation where, as here, the City of Los Angeles applied state law mandated requirements to a section 66427.5 conversion: "Two prior decisions interpreting subdivision (e) have held that it precludes local authorities from 'inject[ing] ...factors [other than those set forth in the statute] when considering an application to convert an existing mobilehome park form a rental to a resident-owner basis.'....Neither decision, however, addresses a situation in which the local authority imposed requirements that it contended were mandated by another state statute, and thus neither controls here." 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1461, 1476-1477.

The Sequoia Park court introduced its opinion as resolving a pre-emption issue: "We conclude that the [Sonoma County] ordinance is expressly preempted....We further conclude that the [county's] ordinance is impliedly preempted because the Legislature, which has established a dominant role for the state in regulating

mobilehomes, has indicated its intent to forestall *local intrusion* into the particular terrain of mobilehome conversions, declining to expand section 66427.5 in ways that would authorize *local governments* to impose additional conditions or requirements for conversion approval." *Sequoia Park Associates v. County of Sonoma* (2009) 176 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1270, 1275 (emphasis added).

Misapplying Sequoia Park, supra, Palisades Bowl claims that if Palisades Bowl decision is allowed to stand, it will create a loophole such that local governments will be able to get around "exclusive application" of section 66427.5 through local ordinances which rest on other applicable state statutes. The Palisades Bowl court did nothing more than set forth well-recognized legal principles and apply them to the City of Los Angeles' local zoning issue. The Coastal Act and the Mello Act are state statutes that dictate the substance of what local governments must do when reviewing an application for subdivision and conversion of affordable housing units. These principles are so well established that Palisades Bowl never argued

that the Coastal Act applied to section 66427.5 conversions during the trial court litigation and the appellate court proceedings.<sup>2</sup>

The Coastal Act requires a developer to seek and obtain a coastal development permit from the local agency and dictates the specific criteria the local agency must apply in its consideration of the coastal development permit application. Palisades Bowl, supra, 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1479, 1480. The Coastal Act authorizes a local government, like the City, to "establish procedures for the filing, processing, review, modification, approval or denial" of coastal development permits within its coastal zone. (Section 30600(b).) After a local government has established these procedures, permit jurisdiction transfers to the local government. Following a local government's implementation of a coastal development permit program, "any person wishing to perform a development shall obtain a coastal development permit from the local government." 14 CCR section 13301. The Coastal Act, having delegated permit authority to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Gilchrist and Rutter write in their letter of support for the Petition for Review that the holding of *Palisades Bowl* contradicts the reasoning in *Sequoia Park* which notes that the legislative scheme governing mobilehome park conversions "would not be advanced if parochial interest were allowed to intrude." Underlying Gilchrist and Rutter's assertion is the apparent notion that the interests of the State as expressed in the Mello and Coastal Acts are really just local "parochial" interests. That position makes no sense in light of long established law and as set forth in the *Palisades Bowl* decision.

the City, in accordance with its 1978 election to adopt a local coastal program, requires the City to determine whether the project complies with all relevant policies of the California Coastal Act of 1976. Pub. Res. Code section 30604; *Palisades Bowl, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1480-1481.

The Mello Act mandates the local government to ensure affordable housing units for low and median income individuals and families are maintained in the coastal zone and sets forth the definition of the affordable housing to be preserved. That definition of affordable units to be protected includes mobilehomes in mobilehome parks. Government Code section 65590(g)(1); *Palisades Bowl, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1478.

Additionally, Palisades Bowl's claims that the *Palisades Bowl* decision would reverse the *Sequoia Park* holding that the General Plan Housing Element did not to apply to mobilehome park conversions are erroneous. The *Sequoia Park* court did not determine that Sonoma County deviated from Section 66427.5 by requiring applications to document compliance with "the goals and policies of the General Plan Housing Element..." as Palisades Bowl claims.

(Petition, p. 10.) The *Sequoia Park* court did not discuss this portion

of the Sonoma Count ordinance in particular. Rather, Sequoia Park court's only mention of the General Plan Housing Element is in its verbatim reproduction of the entire Sonoma County ordinance.

Sequoia Park, supra, 176 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1270, 1288-1292. Instead, central to its analysis that the Sonoma County ordinance was preempted was the fact that the ordinance mandated what state law forbids. *Id.* at 1299. The ordinance provided that a mobilehome park subdivision application could only be approved if, for example, it demonstrated that appropriate financial provision has been made to underwrite and ensure proper long-term management and maintenance of all common facilities and infrastructure, etc. *Id.* 

IV. THE APPELLATE COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED
THAT MELLO, COASTAL AND 66427.5 MUST APPLY TO
PALISADES BOWL'S PROPOSED SUBDIVISON

A. THE PROPOSED SUBDIVISION IS A

DEVELOPMENT PROJECT REQUIRING A COASTAL

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT

Palisades Bowl claims its proposed subdivision is not a development project for purposes of the Coastal Act and therefore

does not require a coastal development permit because it does not effect a change in the density or intensity of the use. This argument ignores the Coastal Act's plain language, specifically its definition of development, as well as case law regarding the definition of development. Additionally, Palisades Bowl fails to cite to any case law interpreting "development" which supports its novel claim.

Public Resources Code section 30106 defines development as a "change in the density or intensity of use of land, including, but not limited to, subdivision pursuant to the Subdivision Map Act (commencing with Section 66410 of the Government Code), and any other division of land, including lot splits....."

The cardinal rule of the Coastal Act is that a developer must obtain a coastal development permit, either from the City or the Coastal Commission or both, for every development project in the Coastal Zone. As the Palisades Bowl panel pointed out,

"A project that involves a subdivision under the Subdivision Map Act constitutes development for the purposes of the Coastal Act (Cf. *La Fe, Inc. v. County of Los Angeles* (1999) 73 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 231, 240...["Section 30106 by its terms recognizes that a subdivision of land or lot

split can result in changes in the density or intensity of use of property"].) There is no question that the conversion of a mobilehome park to resident ownership is a subdivision under the Subdivision Map Act....Thus, a mobilehome park conversion is a "development" for which a coastal development permit is required under the Coastal Act. (See California Coastal Com. v. Quanta Investment Corp. (1980) 113 Ca. App. 3d 579...[holding that the conversion of existing apartment units into a stock cooperative form of ownership constitutes a development which falls within the permit jurisdiction of the various Coastal Commission sunder the California Coastal Act of 1976,])

Palisades Bowl, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th at 1481.

Contrary to Palisades Bowl's contention, the reasoning in *Quanta* is not moot. (Petition, p. 16.) It continues to be cited favorably. See e.g., *La Fe, Inc. v. County of Los Angeles* (1999), 73 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 231, 240-242; *Gualala Festivals Committee, supra,* 183 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 67.

The Coastal Act provides an expansive definition of the activities that constitute "development" for purposes of the Act.

Gualala Festivals Committee v. Cal. Coastal Commission (2010) 183

Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 60, 67. The act's goals include protection of the coastline and its resources and maximization of public access. Another purpose is to "minimize the alteration of natural land forms." *La Fe, supra*, 73

Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 235. The act is to be liberally construed to accomplish its purposes and objectives. *Id*.

In La Fe, supra, the court found that "development" for purposes of the Coastal Act included a lot line adjustment even though the adjustment did not create additional parcels. 73

Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 240-242. "The Legislature's stated intent was to grant the commission permit jurisdiction with respect to any changes in the density or intensity of use of land, including any division of land.

Section 30106 by its terms recognizes that a subdivision of land or a lot split can result in changes in the density or intensity of use of property." Id. (emphasis added). The court noted that Pub. Res.

Code section 30106 explicitly applies to a 'subdivision...and any other division of land...' "The key point is that section 30106 applies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In a footnote the court noted that the commission had found the proposed lot line adjustment changed the density and intensity of use of the land. *Id.*, fn. 4.

to a 'division of land' and that a lot line adjustment was such a division of land." *Id.* at 240 (emphasis added).

Palisade Bowl's theory that a mobilehome park conversion is not a development under the Coastal Act is not supported by case law or a plain reading of the statute. Taking this theory to its logical extreme would mean that air-space subdivisions of existing apartment buildings to condominiums, for example, do not change the density or intensity of use and therefore are excluded from operation of the Coastal Act. In any event, there is additional change in the density and intensity of use with a mobilehome park subdivision, as mobilehome owners may decide to move their mobilehomes out after the conversion and new owners may move their mobilehomes in.

B. THE LANGUAGE OF THE COASTAL ACT ITSELF
DOES NOT PRECLUDE ITS APPLICATION TO MOBILEHOME
PARK CONVERSIONS UNDER SECTION 66427.5 AS
PALISADES BOWL NOW APPEARS TO ARGUE

Palisades Bowl also now appears to argue that the language of the Coastal Act itself limits local action involving mobilehome parks. (Petition, p. 18.) Not only is this contrary to its stance in all the proceedings below, but Palisades Bowl's new theory makes no sense. Also contrary to Palisades Bowl's new interpretation, Public Resources Code section 30007 is a reaffirmation that local governments are still required to make provision for preserving low and median income housing in the coastal zone. As the Palisades Bowl panel determined, the Mello Act provides greater protections for low and median income housing than section 66427.5 and therefore its mandate must be applied to affected conversions. *Palisades Bowl, supra*, 187 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1482-1484.

C. THE MELLO ACT MANDATES THAT THE CITY
PRESERVE AFFORDABLE UNITS WHICH ARE TO BE
CONVERTED

Palisades Bowl clearly ignores the plain language of the Mello Act which makes it applicable to conversions of mobilehomes in mobilehome parks. Palisades Bowl appears to claim that the following quotation: "[n]o provision of this section shall be construed as increasing or decreasing the authority of a local government to enact ordinances or to take any other action to ensure the continued affordability of housing" means that any state statute which limits a local agency's authority to maintain affordable housing supersedes the Mello Act's requirements. (Petition, pp. 20-21.) This claim makes no

sense. The plain language of the Mello Act, Government Code section 66590(i) merely says that the section *does not increase or decrease* a local government's authority to ensure the continued affordability of housing. Additionally, Palisades Bowl cites from section 65590(i), not section 65590(h), as it stated in the Petition.

Palisades Bowl's next argument that Gov. Code section 65590's applicability to conversions of mobilehome parks is actually limited by Section 65590(b) also makes no sense. Subsection (b) does not limit the scope of Section 65590, which provides that units, where a lower or moderate income family is no longer residing, may still be considered affordable units if a lower or moderate income family was evicted in the past year and for purposes of avoiding the requirements of Mello. Contrary to Palisades Bowl's interpretation, the phrase in subsection (b) shows the Legislature anticipated that some landowners would try to evade the requirements of the Act. The Legislature wanted to ensure landlords would not attempt to reduce the number of affordable units that needed to be maintained after a conversion by evicting lower and moderate income tenants immediately before the conversion.

#### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons above, the City of Los Angeles respectfully requests that the Supreme Court deny the Petition for Review.